RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jun 23, 2016, 12:08 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No.: 93229-8

Court of Appeals State of Washington, Division II - No.: 46798-4-II

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No.: 13-2-06154-1

WILLIAM LOVE, as personal representative of the ESTATE OF CAMILLE LOVE, and JOSHUA LOVE, a single man,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, a governmental entity, et al.,

Respondents.

PETITIONERS' AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Introduction to Issues

Long ago the Washington state's legislature adopted

RCW 4.92.020, which identifies the Attorney General and his or her

assistants as being the target for service of the Summons and Complaint in

actions brought against the State of Washington. RCW 4.92.020 provides:

Service of summons and complaint in said actions shall be served in the manner prescribed by law upon the Attorney General, or by leaving the summons and complaint <u>in the office of the</u> <u>Attorney General with an assistant attorney general</u>. (Emphasis added).¹

¹ It is noted that use of the terms "served in the manner prescribed by law" in RCW 4.92.020 has been previously interpreted to recognize that the state can be successfully served in the absence of actual delivery to the Attorney General or one of his assistants, so long as the method of service used is lawfully permitted. See *St. Paul and Tacoma Lumber Co. v. State*, 57 Wn. 2d 807, 360 P.2d 142 (1961). In the *St. Paul* case, the Supreme Court held that the State was properly served under a statute permitting

Very little case law exists interpreting RCW 4.92.020. The only appellate opinion addressing service upon an assistant attorney general,(AAG), is the rather cursory opinion in *Landreville v. Shoreline Community College*, 53 Wn. App. 330, 766 P.2d 1107 (1989), which, (even if correctly decided), is factually distinguishable from what transpired in this case.

In this case, it is beyond dispute that the Petitioners' Summons and Complaint came into possession of a statutory target of service, i.e., an assistant attorney general. As explored below, after Petitioners' efforts to serve a copy of the Summons and Complaint at the Tacoma branch of the Attorney General's Office, an AAG, Garth Ahearn came into the possession of Petitioners' Summons and Complaint as evidenced by the fact he authored a detailed Answer. (Petitioners' Complaint and the State's Answer are attached hereto as Appendices 19 through 45). Significantly on the face of the attached Complaint, is a "received" stamp from "Office of the Attorney General Tacoma Service Unit" dated March 5, 2013. (<u>Id.</u> P. 19).

service by publication. The *St. Paul* case tends to call into question *Landreville's* conclusion that strict compliance with RCW 4.92.020 is required.

On review of the defendant's Answer at Page 6 (CP 294) the following language appears, which almost appears to be a question and not an affirmative allegation:

By Way of FURTHER ANSWER and FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, defendant alleges that the summons and complaint was the process served was insufficient [sic].² (Appendices p. 42)

Although the trial court questioned the testimony provided by the Petitioners' process server, the undisputed facts below established that on March 5, 2013 Stephen Currie, went to the Tacoma AG's office intending to serve the State. On arriving at the Tacoma AG's office Mr. Currie would have found a secured location with a small lobby area, with a glass delivery window in what is otherwise a locked facility. (A photo of the lobby area is attached at appendices 46.) The assistant attorney general's at that location work on the other side of a locked door. In other words, even though the statute requires that service of process occur at a specific location i.e. an office of the Attorney General, and upon a specific class of individuals, (assistant attorney generals), physical barriers within the

² Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals found this rather incoherent language sufficient to preserve an insufficient service of process defense, despite that under the terms of CR 12(b)(5) and CR 12(h)(1) such a defense, if not affirmatively pled in the Answer or raised by a CR(12) motion, is waived. *Northwest Admrs., Inc. v. Roundy,* 42 Wn. App. 771, 776, 713 P.2d 1127 (1986).

office location can prevent direct hand delivery of a Summons and Complaint to an assistant attorney general.³

At the delivery window there would have been a receptionist, who would, pursuant to established AG Office policies and procedures, take hand delivery of the documents. Pursuant to internal policy, once the receptionist receives the documents he should arrange delivery by calling an AAG to the secure receptionist area. On arriving at the reception area the AAG would pick up the documents off of a counter.⁴ (AAG Glenn Anderson, who testified at an evidentiary hearing, testified he usually picks the Summons and Complaints off of the reception area counter). (RP Vol. IV p. 156-58).

Under such a system an AAG is not personally served a Summons and Complaint, but is subject to "second-hand service" through the receptionist.

Here, allegedly due to the absence of a "service stamp", the State has contended that this form of receptionist ("second-hand service") never occurred. However, the AAG never explained how and who delivered the

³ Service upon an AAG who happens to be traveling through the small lobby location would be dependent upon pure happenstance. As the Statute requires service at an AG's office, service cannot occur in the same building outside the offices physical confines, on the street, or at an AAG's usual place of abode.

⁴ Allegedly a different "service stamp" is used, (other than a "received" stamp), by AAG personnel showing "evidence" of service on an assistant attorney general.

documents to Mr. Ahearn so he could file a detailed Answer. The trial court and the appellate court failed to recognize the absence of such information should have resulted in a determination that the State failed to rebut by "clear and convincing" evidence Petitioners' *prima facie* case of service.⁵ This is presumptively because he received "second-hand service" of the documents by a person qualified under CR 4.

Due to the secure nature of the AAG office locations, the AG's office has created circumstances that almost guarantee that only "second-hand service" can occur through a "receptionist".

It is the public policy of the State of Washington that it is both acceptable and desirable that the State of Washington, be held accountable in lawsuits brought by citizens. See *Finch v. Matthews*, 74 Wn.2d 161, 176, 443 P.2d 833 (1968). "[T]he legislature takes the view that tort liability will have a salutary effect on the seriousness in which the state executes its responsibility". *Yonker v. DSHS*, 87 Wn. App. 71, 81 930 P.2d 958 (1997).

It is also the public policy in the State of Washington, that cases should be decided on their merits and not procedural traps which place

⁵ It has been recognized that in the service of process context, that the failure to produce relevant evidence in a parties exclusive control, without satisfactory explanation, permits the drawing of a negative inference that the evidence would be unfavorable to the non-producing party. See *Northwick v. Long*, 192 Wn. App. 256, 264, 364 P. 3d 1067(2015).

form over substance. See generally, *Curtis Lumber Co. v. Sortor*, 83 Wn.2d 764, 766-67 522 P.2d 822 (1974).

This matter involves issues of "substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court". See RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. Issues.

1. Given the Attorney General's Office is obligated to accept service on behalf of the State, should the Court find that "substantial compliance" with RCW 4.92.020 is sufficient, considering that the State has adopted policies, procedures, and security measures which serve to impede or deny access to AAGs for service?

2. Did the Trial Court and Court of Appeals err in finding that the plaintiff's "*prima facie*" case of service of process was rebutted by "clear and convincing evidence", given the heightened nature of such a standard, and the fact that the State failed to provide any evidence and/or explain how an assistant attorney general was able to provide a detailed answer to Petitioners' Complaint without being subject to at least secondhand service?

3. Considering the fact that the attorney general's office has adopted policies and procedures which either intentionally, or unintentionally, styme access to assistant attorney generals, at the statutorily designated service location, should service of process be

6

deemed complete when a process server tenders a Summons and Complaint at the AAG's office delivery window?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Trial Court Proceedings

The lawsuit arises out of the horrific and tragic events occurring on February 7, 2010, which resulted in the death of Camille Love and the shooting of Joshua Love by gang members, all of whom were under the supervision of the Washington State Department of Corrections (DOC). (CP 2-5).

On March 5, 2013, Stephen Currie traveled to various locations within the City of Tacoma in order to serve the Summons and Complaint which had previously been filed. (CP 55-70). (CP 180-181). Petitioners' verified service by producing a copy of the first pages of the Summons and Complaint which clearly depicted a "received" stamps from the Attorney General's office, dated March 5, 2013. (CP 55-80).

On April 9, 2013 the State filed a detailed Answer to Petitioners' Complaint signed by AAG Garth Ahearn. In the State's Answer Mr. Ahearn painstakingly addressed each and every allegation in plaintiff's Complaint (CP 284-297).

Despite the fact that Mr. Ahearn obviously had possession of the Summons and Complaint when he drafted the Answer, on April 18, 2014, the State filed a Motion for Summary Judgment coherently alleging for the first time that Petitioners' had failed to serve process in accordance with RCW 4.92.020. (CP 22-29). In support of the State's position it produced declarations from employees of Mr. Ahearn's office, which included, among other things a log allegedly kept at the Tacoma office relating tp receipt of Summons and Complaints at that location. (Appendices p. 47) Petitioners' responded to defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment arguing both that service had occurred and/or for the application of the doctrine waiver. (RP III P. 87).

On May 23, 2014 the trial court granted defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed the State with prejudice. The trial court was apparently of the opinion that Petitioner's proof of service was inadequate because Mr. Currie had failed to get identification from the AAG who he contented accepted service. (RP I P. 19)⁶ On June 2, 2014 Petitioners' filed a Motion for Reconsideration.

⁶ Petitioners' counsel is unaware of any case or statute which requires the procurement of identification from the person served. It is Petitioners' position that the totality of the evidence, including the circumstantial evidence provided by the fact that defendant filed a detailed Answer, (along with the received stamped summons and complaint), was more than sufficient to create a "*prima facie*" case of sufficient service.

On June 23, 2014 the trial court heard the Motion for Reconsideration. The trial court ordered an evidentiary hearing so it could fully vet the service of process issue. (RP II P. 32-43).⁷

An evidentiary hearing occurred which spanned the afternoons of August 7 and August 8, 2014. During the course of the hearing, three witnesses were called (1) Martin Heyting, a clerical employee at Tacoma Attorney General's Office, (2) Stephen Currie, the "process server" and, (3) Glenn Anderson, an AAG from Tacoma location,(and AAG Ahearn's supervising attorney)0. (RP III P. 57 to RP IV P. 183). Mr. Heyting established that near the entry of the Tacoma Attorney General's Office, there is a glass partition (with a delivery slot), separating members of the public from the assistant attorney generals, and other staff, at the location. The door between the public reception area and the state offices are locked. (RP IV P. 157-58).

Although Mr. Heyting had no recollection of Mr. Currie, he testified about internal AAG office procedures relating to receipt and/or service of Summons and Complaints, and indicated that when someone

⁷ It is the fact of service that confers jurisdiction, not the return of service, or the absence thereof. See *In re Estate of Palucci*, 61 Wn.App. 412, 416, 810 P.2d 970 (1991); *Williams v. Steamship Mut. Underwriting Ass'n*, 45 Wn.2d. 206, 227, 273 P.2d. 803 (1954). When a return of service contains defects or irregularities the remedy is to amend the return. See *Williams*, *supra*. CR 4(g)(7) similarly provides that where a return of service is other than by publication "failure to make proof of service does not affect the validity of service." Thus there is nothing inappropriate with respect to Mr. Currie amending his proof of service which originally was factually accurate,(but incomplete).

such as Mr. Currie presented himself at the front window, pushing a Summons and Complaint through the delivery slot, he would only call an AAG to the reception area if the member of the public indicated that they were there for the purpose of serving process. (RP III P. 167-9; P. 74). Mr. Heyting subsequently volunteered that when someone approaches the front counter with a Summons and Complaint, he would specifically ask if they were simply dropping off the documents or wanted to serve an AAG. (*Id.* P. 81).

Although he had no specific recollection of the events, Mr. Heyting was the individual who made the log entry which the State asserted proved that service had not properly been performed. (*Id.* P. 74, P. 80-83) (Appendices p. 47).⁸

Mr. Ahearn's supervisor Glenn Anderson testified that he personally did not receive service of the Love Summons and Complaint but did admit that it was his determination to assign the case to Mr. Ahearn for defense. (*Id.* P.93). Given the fact that Mr. Anderson assigned Mr. Ahearn the responsibility of defending the case, one could assume that he actually reviewed the Summons and Complaint prior to making such a

⁸ It is respectfully suggested that it would seem to be "implausible" that Mr. Currie, who on the same date successfully served the City of Tacoma, would have answered "no" to the question of whether or not he was presenting himself at the Attorney General's Office for the purpose of serving a Summons and Complaint. This is particularly so given that the sole purpose for this visit would be to accomplish that task.

determination. (RP III P. 102). Mr. Anderson also testified that when he accepts service of a Summons and Complaint, he is called to the reception area by a clerical employee and actually picks the documents up off the counter, and never is personally handed the documents by a process server (RP p. 157).

Mr. Currie testified that based on the "photo montage" of Tacoma AAG personnel, he identified Mr. Anderson as being the individual who the receptionist called to receive service of the Summons and Complaint. Mr. Anderson denied the accuracy of Mr. Currie's representation.

Despite the fact that an AAG obviously had been delivered a copy of the Summons and Complaint, (by some unexplained agency), the trial court denied reconsideration and never required Mr. Ahearn to disclose how he received a copy of the Summons and Complaint.

On September 26, 2014 plaintiffs filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision

On May 10, 2016 the Court of Appeals, in an unpublished opinion, affirmed the trial court dismissal of Petitioners' Complaint. As stated at appendix Page 2, the reason the appellate court upheld the dismissal was, despite the fact that Petitioners' had established a *prima facie* case of proper service, the State had shown by clear and convincing evidence that service was improper. (*Id.* P. 10). In reaching such a conclusion, the

appellate court did not address the compelling facts that a copy of the Summons of Complaint was obviously delivered to the attorney general's office on March 5, 2013, and that Mr. Ahearn must have received a copy of the Summons and Complaint through some agency in order to craft his detailed Answer.

The Court of Appeals also rejected Petitioners' argument that the State was estopped and/or had waived an insufficient service of process defense.

Petitioners, strongly believing that the decisions of the appellate court, and the trial court were wrong, seek review by the Washington Supreme Court.

V. ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Given that the Policies, Procedures, and Security Measures of the State of Washington Serve to Impede and/or Preclude Physical Delivery of a Summons and Complaint to an AAG, Should it be Found That Petitioners' Substantially Complied with Their Service of Process Obligations.

Ignored by the trial court, and the court of appeals, is the fact that under either party's version of the events, sufficient service of process occurred in this case. Either service of process was perfected by Mr. Currie through hand delivery of the Summons and Complaint to an AAG, or through the State's adoption of policies and procedures which provide an implicit agreement that service upon an AAG can occur through another. In other words, under the State's own policies and procedures "second-hand" service is the norm and the *prima facie* evidence established that through some agency or individual, Mr. Ahearn received a copy of the Summons and Complaint prior to filing a detailed Answer.

It has long been the law of the State of Washington that substantial compliance with service requirements is sufficient when a defendant has clearly authorized service upon another, or when it has agreed to indirect service, even if a statute otherwise requires strict compliance. See, e.g., *Lee v. Barnes*, 58 Wn.2d 265, 267, 362 P.2d 237 (1961) (recognizing service is effective and sufficient when a person appointed by the defendant accepts service, even though the applicable statute did not appear to allow for service on that individual), *Thayer v. Edmonds*, 8 Wn. App. 36, 41-42, 503 P.2d 1110 (1972), rev. denied, 82 Wn.2d 1001 (1973) (service sufficient where defendant indicated that documents could be left at the door). As recognized in *Lee v. Barnes, supra*, "public policy, therefore, would not forbid defendants to appointment an agent to accept service ... in their behalf nor does it after service forbid them in person to acknowledge receipt of it"

By erecting physical barriers which prevents a process server from physically serving an AAG at the statutorily designated location, (absent a lobby ambush), the State has implicitly agreed that service upon its clerical/receptionist employees is acceptable and sufficient.

Indeed, by operation of its own policies and procedures it appears that the AG's office would find this to be the preferred and safest methodology for service. As indicated, there is nothing within the public policy of the State of Washington which would prevent the AG's Office from acquiescing, adopting or agreeing to statutorily noncompliant service. Further, "second-hand service", apparently preferred by the Attorney General's Office is a valid method of service under the laws of the State of Washington. See *Scanlan v. Townsend*, 181 Wn.2d 838, 336 P.3rd 1155 (2014); *Brown-Edwards v. Powell*, 144 Wn. App. 109, 111, 182 P.3d 441 (2008). As explained in *Scanlan*, under the terms of CR 4(c) any person over the age of 18 years of age, who was testimonially compliant and not a party, may serve process. As reiterated in *Scanlan*, CR 4(c) means "any person means any person." *Id*.

Clearly service through a receptionist, or other employees of the State of Washington, upon an AAG can be valid service. Second hand, or agreed alternative service, is permitted under the terms of RCW 4.92.020 because it allows for an AAG to be "served in the manner prescribed by

14

law". See, St. Paul & Tacoma Lumber Co v. State, 57 Wn.2d 807, 360 P.2d 142 (1961).

Here, it cannot be disputed, that whether it was through the auspices of the receptionist, or some other attorney general employee, the Petitioners' Summons and Complaint found its way to the hands of Mr. Ahearn who drafted a detailed Answer. It would seem highly improbable, if not implausible, that the person who actually delivered the Summons and Complaint to Mr. Ahearn would not be an appropriate person to serve process under CR 4(c). Even before Mr. Ahearn received the Complaint, it had to have found its way into hands of his supervisors who made the determination to assign the case to Mr. Ahearn.

Given such undisputable facts, the record below clearly established a *prima facie* case of proper service that was not rebutted by the defense by "clear and convincing evidence".

B. The Trial court and Court of Appeals Erred in Finding that Petitioners' *Prima Facie* Case of Proper Service was Rebutted by Clear and Convincing Evidence.

It is well established that when a defendant challenges service of process the plaintiff has the initial burden of proof to establish *a prima facie* case of proper service. A plaintiff can establish a *prima facie* case by providing a declaration of a process server. Then the challenging party must show by clear and convincing evidence that service was improper.

See Northwick v. Long, 192 Wn. App. 256, 264, 364 P.3d 1067 (2015). A "prima facie" case of service cannot only be established by testimony provided by the plaintiffs, but also the defendant's "admission is the best possible evidence..." See Scanlan v. Townsend 181 Wn.2d at 856, citing Hamill v. Brooks, 32 Wn. App. 150, 151-52, 649 P.2d 151 (1982).

In this case, neither the Court of Appeals nor the Trial Court properly credited the essential admissions by the defense when determining Petitioners' prima *facie case* had been rebutted by "clear and convincing evidence". By defendant's own "admission", (actions), of filing a detailed Answer, along with other proof the Petitioners' presented, a *prima facie* case of service was not subject to rebuttal by "clear and convincing evidence". The absence of any explanation by the State as to how Mr. Ahearn came into possession of Petitioners' Summons and Complaint undermined any notion that the defense provided "clear and convincing evidence" of improper service. Again, it is reiterated that when a party fails to produce relevant evidence within its control, without satisfactory explanation, a trial court is permitted to draw the inference that the evidence would be unfavorable to non-producing party. See, *Northwick v. Long*, 192 Wn. App. at 264. Had Mr. Ahearn not received delivery of the Summons and Complaint by a person qualified under CR

16

4(c), he certainly would have said so during the many proceedings in this case relating to service of process. ⁹

A party trying to establish insufficiency of process does not present "clear and convincing" evidence of deficiency simply by submitting testimony which conflicts with that of the process server. See, *Leen v. Deomopolis*, 62 Wn. App. 743, 478, 815 P.2d 269 (1991). (The Court found that although a defendant challenged the process server's statement that he personally served the defendant, because the plaintiff submitted evidence corroborating service, the defense failed to present "clear and convincing evidence" of lack of service). See also, *Woodruff v. Spence*, 76 Wn. App. 207, 883 P.2d 936 (1994).

In this case, even assuming, that Mr. Currie's Declarations of Service, and testimony related thereto, were subject to credibility challenges, the undisputed facts, inclusive of the admissions by the defense, precludes a finding of "clear and convincing evidence" of improper service.

C. Service Should Have Been Deemed Complete at the Point Where Mr. Currie Tendered the Summons and Complaint at the Delivery Window.

⁹ This question was left unanswered during the course of appellate oral argument.

While a party has no obligation to aid in service of process upon themselves, they do have a duty to accept service when tendered, and not to evade service. See *Thayer v. Edmonds* 8 Wn. App. at, 41-42.

The case of *Stevens v. City of Centralia*, 86 Wn. App. 135, 936 P.2d 1141 (1997) is eerily similar. In *Stevens* the plaintiff, attempting to file a statutory claim for damages, went to the city clerk's office and told the clerk he wished to file a claim. The clerk refused to accept the claim because it was not on a preprinted form provided by the City. After consulting with his attorney, the next day he returned to the clerk's office and insisted that a claim for damage be filed "as is", but it was too late. After the suit was filed the City moved to dismiss Stevens' case because he had failed to timely file an administrative claim with the City. The trial court agreed and dismissed the case.

On appeal in *Stevens* the Court took a dim view of the City's action and found that although it did not find the claim was "constructively filed," it was constructively accepted at the point Mr. Stevens "tendered" it to the city clerk's office for filing. Id at 152. The Court reasoned to hold otherwise would be inequitable. *Id*.

Similarly, given the fact that the Attorney General's Office has erected physical barriers at the statutory service location, Petitioners' Summons and Complaint should have been deemed served at the point it

18

was tendered to the receptionist whom, as a matter of internal policy, is to initially receive such documentation.

From that point on, neither Petitioners', nor their process server, had any ability to control whether or not the AG's preferred "second-hand" service actually occurs. There is nothing within the common law, nor any statute, which would suggests that a defendant can condition the propriety of service of process on either a process server making the right statement "I'm here to serve a lawsuit", or on a clerical employee remembering to ask – "are you here to serve".

It is respectively suggested that under such circumstances, as a matter of equity and public policy, and to balance the Attorney General's Office's security concerns with its obligation to accept service of process, that service under the circumstances of this case should have been deemed completed at the moment the paperwork was tendered to clerical staff.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Supreme Court should accept review of this case. It is the public policy of the State of Washington that the State be held accountable in tort under appropriate circumstances. Such public policies should also animate considerations of how the State is served process. For the reasons stated above, it is humbly and respectively

submitted that this case involves issues of important public interest and

review should be granted by the Supreme Court.