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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

The Estate seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). However, their 

petition for review should be denied because the petition does not 

involve an issue of substantial public interest. 

A. The Estate's Petition Does Not Raise Any Issues Subject To 
Review, Let Alone An Issue Of Substantial Public 
Importance 

The Estate's petition does not warrant review because there are 

no issues properly before this Court to review. The Estate's contention at 

the trial court level initially was that service on a receptionist was 

effective to commence a lawsuit against the state despite the explicit 

direction in RCW 4.92.02 that the Attorney General or an Assistant 

Attorney General must be served. When that argument failed, the Estate 

moved for reconsideration, contending that they had in fact served an 

Assistant Attorney General (despite the fact that their own original 
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declaration of service stated that a receptionist was served). At the 

Estate's request, the trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing and 

determined as a factual matter that the Estate did not serve an Assistant 

Attorney General. On appeal, the Court of Appeals found that the trial 

court's fmdings of fact were supported by substantial evidence and 

affirmed the trial court's ruling. The Estate makes no contention in their 

petition that the Court of Appeals' fmding that the trial court's factual 

determinations were supported by substantial evidence raises an issue of 

substantial public import. Nor could they, as the factual determinations 

made by the trial court have no impact outside this case. 

Rather, as the basis for their petition, the Estate relies on issues 

they raised for the first time on appeal. The Estate argues that the . state 

was properly served, premising its argument on constructive service, and 

arguing that the state's receipt of actual notice of the complaint was 

evidenced by the state's appearing and defending the lawsuit. However, 

as the Court of Appeals specifically ruled: ". . . Love did not make these 

arguments in the trial court. Therefore, we decline to consider them for 

the first time on appeal." Love v. State, 193 Wn. App. 1049, n.l (citing 

RAP 2.5(a); Martin v. Johnson, 141 Wn. App. 611, 623, 170 P.3d 1198 

(2007)). Because the Court declined to review these matters pursuant to 

its authority under RAP 2.5(a), the petition does not meet the 
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requirement of RAP 13 .4(b )( 4) because there are no issues properly 

before this Court to review. 

B. The Law Regarding Service Of Process On The State Is Well 
Established And Thus The Estate's Petition Does Not Raise . 
An Issue Of Substantial Public Import 

While it is not clear if the Estate is claiming that the Court of 

Appeals' determination that they failed to comply with the service 

requirements of RCW 4.92.020 raises an issue of substantial public 

import, to the extent they are the Estate's argument lacks merit. As 

already noted, the Estate does not contend in its petition that the factual 

determination that they did not serve an Assistant Attorney General 

raises an issue of substantial public importance subject to review. 

Because that determination is supported by substantial evidence, the 

Estate necessarily must assert that whether service· on a receptionist in 

the Attorney General's Office complies with RCW 4.92.020's service 

requirements raises an issue of substantial public import. It does not 

because the law on serving the State is well established. 

Article 2, § 26 of the Washington State Constitution provides; 

"The legislature shall direct by law, in what manner, and in what courts, 

suits may be brought against the state." RCW 4.92.020, providing for the 

manner of service on the state, was promulgated by the legislature 

pursuant to this constitutional grant of authority. Northwestern & Pacific 
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Hypotheek Bank v. State, 42 L.R.A. 33 (1897) (overturned on other 

grounds). 

"Proper service of the summons and complaint is required to 

invoke personal jurisdiction." Scanlan v. Townsend, 181 Wn.2d 838, 

847, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014). Actual notice is not a substitute for proper 

service. Ralph's Concrete Pumping, Inc. v. Concord Concrete Pumps, 

Inc., 154 Wn. App. 581, 585, 225 P.3d 1035 (2010). 

RCW 4.92.020 is the applicable service statute enacted by the 

legislature pursuant to its constitutional authority to direct the manner in 

which the State may be sued: "Service of summons and complaint in 

such actions shall be served in the manner prescribed by law upon the 

attorney general, or by leaving the summons and complaint in the office 

of the attorney general with an assistant attorney general." (Emphasis 

added.) The statute was construed in Landreville v. Shoreline College, 

53 Wn. App. 330, 766 P.2d 1107 (1988). 

In Landreville, as here, the plaintiff had served an administrative 

assistant (i.e., receptionist) in the Office of the Attorney General and the 

plaintiff contended, as appellar:tt does here, that service on the 

administrative assistant constituted substantial compliance with RCW 

4.92.020. Construing RCW 4.92.020, the Court of Appeals noted that, 

"[w]hen a statute designates a particular person or officer upon whom 
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service of process is to be made in an action against a municipality, no 

other person or officer may be substituted." Landreville, 53 Wn. App. at 

332 (citing Meadowdale Neighborhood Comm. v. Edmonds, 27 Wn. 

App. 261, 264, 616 P.2d 1257 (1980)). Based on this principle oflaw the 

court found: 

Because RCW 4.92.020 specifies that service can only be 
made on the Attorney General or left with an Assistant 
Attorney General, leaving the summons and complaint with 
the administrative assistant was not sufficient to acquire 
jurisdiction over the State. Actual notice to the State, 
standing alone, is not sufficient. Any hardship engendered 
by this exclusive method of service is a matter for the 
Legislature, not for this court, which must enforce the law 
as plainly written. 

!d. at 332; see also Tegland and Ende, 15A Washington Practice§ 15.13 

and Tegland, 14 Washington Practice § 8.12 (both providing that the 

service requirements of RCW 4.92.020 are strictly construed and 

rigorously enforced). 

The Estate's contention that service on an administrative assistant 

constitutes substantial compliance V\-ith RCW 4.92.02 has already been 

decided and rejected. Any contention by appellants that the issue of 

whether they complied with RCW 4.92.020 raises a substantial issue of 

public importance is without merit. 

The Estate's argument that actual notice is sufficient to satisfy 

the requirements of personal service regardless of what direction a 
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statute provides regarding the proper person to serve is equally 

misguided. In every case where a defendant raises the defense of 

improper service they necessarily have received actual notice of the 

lawsuit; otherwise they would not be appearing and raising the defense 

by answer or motion. In that respect, the Estate's position goes so far as 

to completely nullify any statutory requirement regarding the proper 

service of process. Review should be denied. 

C. The Court Of Appeals' Determination There Is Substantial 
Evidence To Support The Trial Court's Findings Does Not 
Raise An Issue Of Substantial Public Importance 

The sufficiency of service of process is a question of law 

reserved to the trial court. Harvey v. Obermeit, 163 Wn. App. 311, 327, 

261 P.3d 671 (2011). When an evidentiary hearing is required to 

determine an issue of fact, a court of appeals reviews the trial court's 

findings of fact and conclusions of law to determine whether substantial 

evidence supports the findings of fact and whether the findings support 

the conclusions oflaw. Harvey, 163 Wn. App. at 318. 

Here, the Court of Appeals, in upholding the trial court's ruling, 

noted the testimony " ... at the evidentiary hearing strongly supported 

both the factual finding and the conclusion of law." Love v. State, 193 

Wn. App. 1049, 1055 (2016). It went on to state that pursuant to Dave 

Johnson Ins., Inc. v. Wright, 167 Wn. App. 758, 778, 275 P.3d 339 
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(2012), the court " ... deferred to the trial court's determination that 

Appellant's assertion they directly served an Assistant Attorney General 

was not credible ... " Love v. State, 193 Wn. App. at 1056. 

In the face of the trial court's finding that personal service had 

not been made, the Estate raised for the first time on appeal the claim the 

AGO has deliberately created barriers to personal service of an Assistant 

Attorney General. The Court of Appeals properly rejected this claim 

because it was never raised before the trial court. 

Further, it simply is not supported by the record, which included 

testimony about the regular procedure the office follows when someone 

represents they want to serve a summons and complaint on an Assistant 

Attorney General. RP at 97-99. The record shows members of the 

public successfully serve an Assistant Attorney General on a regular 

basis. CP at 74. Despite the ready ability to do so, the Estate failed to 

effect personal service, and compounded its error by failing to correct it 

even when advised in the DOC's Answer that insufficiency of process 

was raised as a defense. 

In sum, the Court of Appeals' ruling is in accord with the 

Legislature's requirements for service outlined in RCW 4.92.020 and is 

consistent with Landreville, Harvey and Dave Johnson Ins. The Estate's 
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arguments do not overcome this nor. do they support review under RAP 

13.4(b)(4). Thus the petition for review should be denied. 

2016. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 2--J day of August, 

ROBERT W. FERGUSON 

GARTH A. AHEARN 
WSBA #29840, OlD #911 05 
Assistant Attorney General 
1250 Pacific Avenue, Suite 105 
Tacoma, WA 98401-2317 
253-593-5243 
gartha@atg.wa.gov 
Attorney for Respondent State ofWashington